Integrating Heterogeneous Evidence using Evidential Pluralism

Introductory Guide

Joe Jones, Alexandra Trofimov, Michael Wilde, Jon Williamson

Centre for Reasoning report 23/01 version 5, University of Kent

Contents

1.	Evidential Pluralism: What it is and when to use it	2
2.	Introducing Evidential Pluralism	2
3.	Integrating quantitative and qualitative evidence using Evidential Pluralism	4
4.	Example: Covid-19 face mask mandates	5
5.	Example: interventions to tackle fake news	9
6.	Example: interventions to reduce consumption of alcohol	11
7.	Example: universal basic income	12
8.	Example: awarding gaps in higher education	14
9.	Further resources	15
10.	Glossary	16
11.	References	17

1. Evidential Pluralism: What it is and when to use it

<u>Evidential Pluralism</u> (EP) is a framework for understanding how to integrate different kinds of evidence when evaluating whether an intervention works. EP yields evaluations informed by *all* relevant evidence—quantitative and qualitative—not just a small subset of quantitative studies.

EP does this by assessing mechanistic evidence alongside experimental and observational studies. Providing evidence of key features of the proposed mechanism of action of the intervention can raise confidence in effectiveness. On the other hand, if these features are found to be absent, or if key features of counteracting mechanisms are found to be present, this can undermine confidence in effectiveness. Either way, evidence of mechanisms can be very informative. EP can help us to evaluate this evidence when assessing whether an intervention works.

EP can be thought of as a framework for integrating standard methods for systematically reviewing experimental and observational studies with <u>theory-based methods</u>, which focus on mechanisms. However, while theory-based evaluation designs such as <u>realist evaluation</u> usually seek to ask *how* an intervention works, EP focusses on *whether* the intervention works. Thus, EP can be thought of as providing a methodology for <u>impact evaluation</u> (assessing whether an intervention is an effective means of achieving certain goals) rather than <u>process or implementation evaluation</u> (assessing whether the intervention has been implemented as intended).

EP is particularly appropriate:

- where experimental and observational studies on their own fail to establish or rule out causation;
- where mechanistic considerations might undermine the results of experimental and observational studies (e.g., by identifying potential confounding variables that have not been adequately controlled for);
- to ensure that qualitative evidence informed by stakeholders is not marginalised.

The application of EP to evidence-based medicine is called 'EBM+' and the application of EP to evidence-based policy is called 'EBP+'. The '+' denotes the addition of explicit procedures for evaluating mechanistic evidence to standard methods of evidence-based evaluation. This guide focusses on policy evaluation, i.e., EBP+.

2. Introducing Evidential Pluralism

Correlation is not causation. Why? Because a correlation between intervention variable *A* and outcome variable *B* (controlling for potential confounders) could be attributable to any one of a large number of possible explanations—of which causation is just one. For example, a correlation might be due to reverse causation (i.e., *B* causing *A*), uncontrolled confounding variables, or various kinds of bias introduced by the study design. If the correlation really is attributable to *A* being a cause of *B* then there must be some mechanism of action by which *A* produces *B*. So, in order to establish causation one needs to establish not only correlation but also the existence of an underlying mechanism that can account for the extent of the observed correlation. This observation motivates Evidential Pluralism, which is depicted in Fig. 1.



Figure 1: Evidential relationships for causal enquiry, according to Evidential Pluralism.

A purely quantitative approach to evaluation seeks to establish causation just by means of experimental and observational studies that repeatedly measure A and B together with potential confounders. Here, randomised controlled trials (RCTs) are particularly informative because they not only provide an estimate of the extent of the correlation (confirming correlation via channel e_1 in Fig. 1), but they also indirectly confirm the existence of an underlying mechanism (channel e_2) because they lower the probability that the correlation is attributable to uncontrolled confounders.

But the presence of an appropriate mechanism can be tested more directly by hypothesising specific features of the mechanism (m_2) and then exploring whether or not these features are actually present (m_1) . Such features include key mediating variables, or entities and activities involved in the mechanism, or features of the way in which these entities and activities are organised. A study that looks for such features is classified as a 'mechanistic study'.

A mechanistic study might use quantitative methods. For example, to test the hypothesis that some variable C mediates a mechanism between A and B, one might carry out an RCT that looks for a correlation between A and C and another quantitative study that looks for a correlation between C and B. A mechanistic study might, alternatively, use qualitative methods. For example, qualitative responses from interviews might be used to isolate features of the ways in which A and B are connected in the lives of individual stakeholders; qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) might be used to test which features of a mechanism are key to its execution. Alternatively, a mechanistic study might use mixed methods: e.g., triangulation from quantitative and qualitative methods to establish the presence of some key feature of interest.

3. Integrating quantitative and qualitative evidence using Evidential Pluralism

EP can provide guidance on where and how to combine quantitative and qualitative evidence.

- Quantitative and qualitative evidence will need to be scrutinised in order to assess specific mechanism hypotheses (channel m_1 of Fig. 1).
- A second point of integration arises when ascertaining whether there is a mechanism linking A and B. Here, one needs to consider how plausible it is that some suitable mechanism exists, given quantitative evidence from experimental and observational studies (channel e₂) and the quantitative and qualitative evidence from mechanistic studies (m₂).
- A third point of integration arises when assessing correlation. Although quantitative studies are likely to be most informative here (a₁), mechanism hypotheses can suggest potential confounders that may not have been adequately controlled for, decreasing confidence that A and B are correlated conditional on potential confounders (m₃). Alternatively, if the mechanism is well established and sufficiently simple, the features of the mechanism may increase confidence in a correlation (m₃).

The EP approach to integrating these streams of evidence is summarised in Table 1 below. See section 4 for an in-depth example that goes through the steps of Table 1.

	Task	Main questions
I.	Specify the causal claim.	What is the intervention, the outcome of interest, the population and the time- frame?
2.	Specify the correlation claim.	What are the potential confounders?
3.	Formulate specific mechanism hypotheses.	What are the key features of the mechanism by which the intervention is supposed to work? What the key features of any counteracting and enhancing mechanisms?
4.	Search for and assess experimental and observational studies.	What are the search terms? What are the inclusion criteria for the studies? How high quality is each individual study?
5.	Screen the need for a mechanistic evaluation.	What is the preliminary status of the correlation, general mechanistic and causal claims? Could evidence of specific mechanism hypotheses change these preliminary determinations? (If so, proceed.)
6.	Search for mechanistic studies.	Which features of specific mechanism hypotheses have already been established or ruled out? Which review questions should be used to find studies relevant to remaining features?
7.	Assess mechanistic studies.	How relevant are the population and variables of each study? How reliable are its methods? Does it implement these methods well? Are the results independently verified, consistent and robust?
8.	Assess specific mechanism hypotheses.	What status do the mechanistic studies confer on each specific mechanism hypothesis?
9.	Assess the correlation claim.	Do specific mechanism hypotheses modify the preliminary status conferred on the correlation claim by experimental and observational studies?
10.	Assess the general mechanistic claim.	Have alternative explanations of the correlation, such as bias and confounding, been ruled out? How well confirmed are the features of the mechanism complex? Can it account for the magnitude of the observed correlation?
11.	Assess the causal claim.	What is the minimum status of the correlation and general mechanistic claims? (This is the status of the causal claim.)

Table 1. The EP approach to evaluating the effectiveness of an intervention.

4. Example: Covid-19 face mask mandates

A narrow focus on experimental studies, especially RCTs, resulted in controversy and uncertainty concerning the effectiveness of public health interventions to reduce the spread of Covid-19, including legal requirements to wear a face mask in public. A Cochrane Systematic Review, which included only RCTs, found face masks make little or no difference to the spread of Covid-19.¹ Various limitations of the review and of the studies included have, however, been highlighted. Taking account of a broader range of evidence is crucial to understanding the effectiveness of face masks.² This case study therefore provides a good example of the need for and benefits of an EP evaluation. We sketch such an evaluation here, following the steps set out in Table 1.

I. Specify the causal claim:

The causal claim is that a legal requirement to wear a face mask in public reduces the prevalence of symptomatic Covid-19 infections and thereby reduces the number of hospitalizations and deaths.

The population of interest is the global population. An evaluation of a specific law on reducing the prevalence of symptomatic Covid-19 infections will focus on the population of the jurisdiction within which the specific law applies. However, here we are concerned with the effectiveness of legal requirements to wear face masks at a more general level.

The legal requirements of interest are those that require a cloth face mask to be worn in public, especially when indoors or when outside and maintaining social distancing is difficult. Exemptions include relevant health conditions that make wearing a face mask problematic or difficult.

2. Specify the correlation claim:

The correlation claim is that a legal requirement to wear face masks in public is negatively correlated with symptomatic Covid-19 infections, conditional on potential confounders. Potential confounders include Covid-19 test rates, other public health measures such as social distancing, underlying health conditions, individual mobility, population density, socio-economic factors, age, gender, temperature and humidity.

3. Formulate specific mechanism hypotheses:

A plausible mechanism hypothesis is that a legal requirement to wear a face mask in public increases the use of face masks which in turn reduces the prevalence of Covid-19 which reduces the prevalence of symptomatic covid infections and thereby the number of hospitalizations and deaths.

A plausible hypothesised counteracting mechanism is that a legal requirement to wear a face mask in public will decrease compliance with other public health interventions, such as social distancing. This in turn would result in an increase in the number of symptomatic infections compared to the

¹ Jefferson et al., (2023).

² Greenhalgh et al., (2022); Howard et al., (2020).

number that would have occurred if the legal requirement to wear a face mask had not been introduced.



4. Search for and assess experimental and observational studies:

An event study conducted in the U.S. that covered all 50 states found mask mandates are associated with a 14% decrease in Covid-19 cases, conditional on several potential confounders including Covid-19 test rates, other public health interventions, individual mobility and weather.³

An observational study of matched cohorts from 412 U.S. counties found mask mandates are associated with decreases in Covid-19 cases ranging from 11% to 25 % during a six-week post intervention period, conditional on potential confounders.⁴

Analysis of data covering 188 nations found that mask mandates are consistently associated with lower Covid-19 infection rates in the short term and early adoption of mask mandates is consistently associated with lower infection rates in the longer term, conditional on potential confounders.⁵

5. Screen the need for a mechanistic evaluation:

Taken together, the quantitative studies detect a robust correlation across contexts. It is therefore plausible to conclude that the correlation claim is established and that confidence in the general mechanistic claim is increased.

Although each of the quantitative studies controls for several confounders, some residual confounding may persist. The causal claim is therefore only provisionally established. A mechanistic evaluation is necessary because it could increase confidence in the causal claim.

³ Adjodah et al., (2021).

⁴ Huang et al., (2022).

⁵ An et al., (2021).

6. Search for mechanistic studies:

The mechanism hypothesis is that a legal requirement to wear a face mask will increase face mask use and thereby decrease the prevalence of Covid-19 symptomatic infections, hospitalizations and deaths.

The first part of the mechanism hypothesis is that a legal requirement to wear face masks will increase face mask use. Analysis of survey data found that mask wearing increased up to 23.4% after the implementation of State mandates in Hawaii, Iowa, North Dakota and New Hampshire.⁶ Betsch et al. conducted cross-sectional surveys with 6973 German participants. They found that the implementation of a public mask mandate steeply increased mask wearing. They also found that sufficient compliance would unlikely be achieved with a voluntary mask policy.⁷ MacIntyre et al. conducted cross sectional surveys in Sydney and Melbourne (Australia), London (UK) and Phoenix and New York (USA). They found mask mandates are a predictor of mask wearing.⁸

The second part of the mechanism hypothesis is that face mask use will reduce the spread of Covid and thereby reduce symptomatic infections, hospitalizations and deaths. A recently updated Cochrane review found face masks make little or no difference to the spread of Covid-19.⁹ In contrast, multivariate analysis of 196 countries found that duration of mask wearing is negatively associated with Covid-19 mortality and that cultural norms and policies supporting public face mask wearing are associated with lower per-capita coronavirus mortality.¹⁰ Model simulations found widespread use of face masks effectively reduces community transmission and decreases hospitalizations and deaths.¹¹ Experimental studies provide support for the efficacy of face masks in reducing transmission by supporting aerosol transmission as a key mode of transmission.¹²

The hypothesised counter-acting mechanism is that a legal requirement to wear face masks increases Covid-19 symptomatic cases by decreasing compliance with other public health interventions such as social distancing. Surveys found mask wearing is positively correlated with complying with other public health interventions, such as social distancing.¹³

By combining a range of quantitative and qualitative studies, evidence for each section of the mechanism hypothesis can be provided.

7. Assess mechanistic studies:

The studies relating to the first part of the mechanism hypothesis all support the effectiveness of a legal requirement in increasing face mask wearing. The studies provide evidence across contexts and control for a number of confounders. However, the studies rely on self-reported survey data and therefore there is a risk of recall bias and response bias in the results. Furthermore, although the studies cover a range of geographical regions, they are not fully representative of the global population.

Turning to the second part of the mechanism hypothesis, the Cochrane review included only RCTs and, as the authors acknowledge, the observed lack of effectiveness could be due to study design

⁶ Adjodah et al., (2021).

⁷ Betsch et al. (2020).

⁸ MacIntyre et al., (2021).

⁹ Jefferson et al., (2023).

¹⁰ Leffler et al., (2020).

¹¹ Eikenberry et al., (2020).

¹² Van Doremalen et al., (2020); Leung et al., (2020).

¹³ Betsch et al., (2020); MacIntyre et al., (2021).

flaws. Furthermore, most of the studies included in the review evaluated masks in terms of how well they protect the user rather than how well they reduce community transmission and therefore focus on a different outcome of interest to the outcome of interest here. Given these limitations, the results of the systematic review should be taken as inconclusive rather than negative in relation to the effectiveness of face masks in reducing the spread of Covid-19.

Taking account of a broader range of evidence enables a more accurate assessment of the effectiveness of face masks. The other studies considered here provide support for the effectiveness of face masks in reducing community transmission and thereby reducing symptomatic cases, hospitalizations and deaths. Taking account of a broader range of evidence, Greenhalgh et al. conclude that airborne aerosol transmission 'is likely to be dominant'.¹⁴ A narrative literature review concluded that face masks are effective at reducing community transmission when compliance is high.¹⁵

The survey results undermine the counteracting mechanism hypothesis. The surveys provide evidence across contexts and control for confounders but there remains a risk of bias in the survey results.

8. Assess the specific mechanism hypothesis:

The studies considered here provide support for the first part of the mechanism hypothesis. Some risk of bias remains, however, and the results are not representative of the global population. Therefore, the first part of the mechanism hypothesis is provisionally established.

The evidence considered here provides strong support for the second part of the mechanism hypothesis. The limitations of the systematic review mean it is inconclusive and does not provide high-quality evidence against the second part of the mechanism hypothesis. Taken together, the rest of the evidence considered here provides strong support for the effectiveness of face masks, particularly when widespread adoption of face masks is achieved. Therefore, the second part of the mechanism hypothesis is established.

The survey results provide evidence against the counter-acting mechanism. Furthermore, given the extent of the net benefit of a legal requirement to wear face masks found across multiple studies, it is evident that the benefit is not negated, even if slightly reduced. The counteracting mechanism hypothesis is, therefore, provisionally ruled out.

Although the second part of the mechanism hypothesis is established, the first part is only provisionally established. The status of the mechanism hypothesis is that of its weakest part. Therefore, on the basis of the quantitative and qualitative evidence considered here, the mechanism hypothesis is provisionally established overall.

9. Assess the correlation claim:

The correlation claim is established. The quantitative and qualitative evidence considered provides strong evidence of both correlation and mechanisms. The evidence of mechanisms increases confidence in the correlation claim to such an extent that it is unlikely that further evidence would overturn it.

¹⁴ Greenhalgh et al., (2021).

¹⁵ Howard et al., (2021).

10. Assess the general mechanism claim:

The evidence of mechanisms provisionally establishes the specific mechanism hypothesis. However, the strength of the quantitative evidence of correlation further increases confidence in the general mechanistic claim. Given the mutually supporting evidence of correlation and mechanism, the general mechanistic claim is established.

II. Assess the causal claim:

On the basis of the quantitative and qualitative evidence considered here, both the correlation claim and the general mechanistic claim are established. Therefore, the causal claim is established.

5. Example: interventions to tackle fake news

In the following four sections we provide examples of how Evidential Pluralism offers a helpful framework for identifying evidence gaps and how best to fill them.

The Problem

It is often assumed that online fake news has a detrimental impact on behaviour, but is this really the case? According to EP, to establish that online fake news affects behaviour, one needs to establish the existence of both a correlation and a mechanism.¹⁶ This requires combining quantitative and qualitative evidence.

Quantitative studies provide evidence of correlation. For example, there is evidence of a correlation between the amount of misinformation shared and a decrease in daily Covid-19 vaccination rates, conditional on potential confounders.¹⁷

A plausible mechanism hypothesis connecting fake news and problematic behaviour is:



Qualitative and quantitative studies provide evidence of this mechanism.¹⁸ For example, qualitative surveys identify volume of information, repeated exposure, using family and friends as sources of

¹⁶ 'Fake news' is here being used to cover all kinds of false and misleading information, including misinformation, disinformation and mal-information.

¹⁷ Pierri et al. (2022).

¹⁸ See, for example, Allington et al. (2021); Greene and Murphy (2021); Lockyer et al. (2021); Pennycook et al (2018); Roozenbeek et al. (2020)

information and emotive content as drivers of belief in fake news.¹⁹ An Experimental study found exposure to misinformation is associated with small but significant changes in behavioural intentions and that behavioural intentions are associated with belief.²⁰

Thus, by combining quantitative evidence of correlation and quantitative and qualitative evidence of mechanisms, the detrimental effects of online fake news can be established.

Interventions

The above mechanism hypothesis and associated evidence can be used to identify possible points of intervention. For example, accuracy prompts aim to reduce the impact of fake news by improving truth discernment which (i) reduces belief in fake news²¹ and (ii) reduces sharing of, and in turn exposure to, fake news.²²



Evidence of mechanisms is also crucial to evaluating interventions. Quantitative and qualitative studies provide evidence of mechanisms to support the effectiveness of accuracy prompt interventions. For example, survey studies show that accuracy prompts increase truth discernment and reduce the amount of false content people intend to share online.²³ A large field experiment conducted on Twitter shows that accuracy prompts reduce the amount of false content shared online.²⁴ Computational modelling provides evidence that accuracy prompts increase truth discernment and improve quality of content shared by focusing attention on accuracy rather than increasing the amount of deliberation.²⁵

¹⁹ Lockyer et al. (2021).

²⁰ Greene and Murphy (2021).

²¹ There is evidence that belief in fake news is driven by failing to engage in reflective reasoning and instead relying on automatic, intuitive thinking. See, for example, Bago et al. (2020); Pennycook and Rand (2019); Pennycook and Rand (2021).

²² There is evidence that repeated exposure increases belief in fake news. See, for example, Pennycook et al. (2018).

²³ Arechar et al. (2022); Brashier et al. (2020); Epstein et al. (2021); Fazio (2020); Pennycook et al. (2020); Pennycook et al. (2021); Pennycook and Rand (2022).

²⁴ Pennycook et al. (2021); Pennycook and Rand (2022).

²⁵ Lin, Pennycook and Rand (2023).

Combining quantitative and qualitative evidence provides strong evidence of mechanisms to support the effectiveness of accuracy prompt interventions. This evidence can be understood to provide indirect evidence of correlation via channel m_3 in Fig. 1 above. Quantitative evidence of a correlation between accuracy prompts and behaviour, such as improved Covid-19 vaccine uptake, would further support the effectiveness of accuracy prompts.

6. Example: interventions to reduce consumption of alcohol

The problem

Does alcohol consumption cause cancer? EP captures the evidence appraisal procedures employed by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) to answer questions such as this. The IARC *Monographs* programme evaluates the strength of the evidence in order to determine whether a particular preventable exposure can be classified as a possible, probable, or established cause of cancer in humans. IARC determined that consumption of alcoholic beverages does indeed cause cancer.²⁶

A *Monographs* working group evaluates a range of evidence in order to determine whether an exposure is a cause of cancer.²⁷ One subgroup evaluated evidence of cancer in human epidemiological studies relating to alcohol consumption. These quantitative studies provided strong evidence of the existence of a correlation between alcohol consumption and cancer in humans. But such studies alone are often insufficient to establish that the exposure is a cause of cancer, due to the risk of confounding and bias. Another subgroup therefore evaluates the evidence from mechanistic studies in order to determine whether there is a mechanism linking exposure to cancer. These studies can be quantitative or qualitative. There was substantial mechanistic evidence that alcohol causes cancer of the oesophagus, for example.

Interventions

Establishing that alcohol consumption is a cause of cancer and other diseases has led to a number of interventions aimed at reducing alcohol intake. One such intervention is the introduction of minimum unit pricing, that is, a legal minimum price per unit of alcohol. EP can help to assess the effectiveness of such an intervention on different populations.

Scotland introduced minimum unit pricing in 2018, but there is currently no minimum unit pricing in England. Quantitative studies comparing England and Scotland have shown a population-level correlation between the introduction of minimum unit pricing and a reduction in deaths and hospitalisations.²⁸ One possible explanation of this correlation appeals to the familiar economic mechanism by which an increase in price leads to a fall in demand and therefore consumption of alcohol. However, there are also alternative mechanism hypotheses. For example, the Scottish population in which minimum unit pricing was introduced may have had an unrelated, simultaneous drop in the availability of alcohol relative to the English control population; it may be a drop in the

²⁶ IARC (2010).

²⁷ IARC (2019).

²⁸ See, for example, Wyper et al. (2023).

availability of alcohol, rather than the minimum unit pricing, that is causing most of the reduction in deaths and hospitalisations.²⁹



Qualitative and quantitative studies can help to decide between the two competing mechanism hypotheses. For example, quantitative studies help to disconfirm the availability hypothesis by providing evidence of a similar level of availability of alcohol in Scotland and England.³⁰ And qualitative or mixed methods studies, for example, studies including structured interviews, help to determine whether it is the affordability or the availability of alcohol that is causing the reduced consumption.³¹ In this way, integrating quantitative and qualitative evidence can help to establish the effectiveness of a proposed intervention.

7. Example: universal basic income

EP can help to identify gaps in the evidence base, as in the example of Universal Basic Income (UBI). Where the quantitative evidence gives some inconclusive and low-quality support to the claim that UBI is correlated with health and economic benefits, EP suggests that there is a need for additional mechanistic evidence.

UBI is purported to have a range of effects, including: a reduction in economic inequality and precarity;³² and a reduction in a number of health issues, particularly depressive disorders and preventable long-term conditions, and their subsequent cost on the NHS.³³

A number of small-scale trials have been piloted to assess the effectiveness of UBI in the UK: starting in 2022, a pilot study will test the effectiveness of a monthly £1600 stipend for the wellbeing of 500 people leaving care over 2 years;³⁴ in England a trial in two areas in the North and South of the country are planned for 2023, in which 30 people will also be given £1600 a month for 2 years;³⁵ and proposals for trials in Scotland and Ireland are currently under consideration.³⁶

²⁹ See, for example, PHS (2023) pp. 60-77.

³⁰ PHS (2023), pp. 72-74.

³¹ See, for example, Holmes et al. (2022).

³² See, for example, Lowrey, 2018; Reed et al, 2023.

³³ See, for example, Gibson et al, 2020; Johnson et al, 2023.

³⁴ See Drakeford, 2022.

³⁵ See Ali Hussen, 2023.

³⁶ See Redmond et al, 2022.

However, these micro-trials have limitations: they are very small, with current trials only including between 30 and 500 participants; they are localised to specific areas, such as Jarrow and East Finchley, and to specific demographics, such as Welsh young people leaving care; and while they contain control groups, trials can't be properly randomised or double-blinded, as participants know if they're receiving the stipend. Thus, they are far from ideal and their findings are inconclusive on their own. There is therefore a clear gap in the evidence base, that can be addressed in two ways: by conducting larger, higher quality experimental trials, and/or by seeking mechanistic evidence³⁷.

Large and more diverse trials are costly and hard to justify in the absence of provisional evidence of effectiveness. The economic benefits of UBI are modelled by the NHS³⁸ and their affordability is rationalised within reasonable budgets:³⁹ but expanding UBI trials to a sufficient size, scope, and design would be a hugely expensive and risky undertaking.

Rather than investing heavily in scaling up trials, a more cost-effective approach would be to integrate mechanistic evidence with the existing quantitative evidence.⁴⁰⁴¹ At the current moment in time, however, there is limited mechanistic evidence for both the positive and negative effect of UBI on participation in the labour market, limited mechanistic modelling of how UBI could be funded and its impact on national budgets, and a limited mechanistic understanding of how UBI reduces low-income related stress and health issues.⁴² There is a clear gap in the evidence base in this regard, and more research is needed to fully explore the hypothesised mechanism underpinning UBI as a health and economic intervention, which can be summarised as follows:



By investigating this proposed mechanism hypothesis through a range of quantitative and qualitative mechanistic studies that provide an understanding of how UBI reduces low-income stress and health issues, policy makers will be in a better position to evaluate whether UBI works. An analysis of mechanistic evidence would also be better grounds for deciding whether larger UBI trials are justified.

Given the public interest in the proposed health⁴³ and economic benefits⁴⁴ of UBI, there is a clear need for more confidence in the effectiveness of UBI as a policy intervention, as well as greater

³⁷ See Hoynes and Rothstein (2019) for further information on the limitations of these micro-trials.

³⁸ Johnson et al, 2023.

³⁹ Reed et al, 2023.

⁴⁰ Johnson et al, 2021.

⁴¹ This has been noted by Hoynes and Rothstein (2019), who argue that: "Unfortunately, the planned and ongoing pilots are not well suited to answer these questions [of effectiveness]. Experimentation aimed at identifying parameters and mechanisms... would be more useful than evaluations of small UBI pilots" (p. 24, my own bracketing).

⁴² See, for example, Fitzpatrick, 2022; Jaimovich et al, 2022.

⁴³ See, for example, Ruckert et al, 2017; Johnson et al, 2023.

⁴⁴ See, for example, Srnicek & Williams, 2015; Harrop & Tait, 2017; Lowrey, 2018.

accountability and understanding. While larger and more diverse trials are desirable, obtaining mechanistic evidence can be more cost-effective and less risky, and EP provides a practical method for integrating quantitative and qualitative mechanistic evidence in the evaluation of UBI.

8. Example: awarding gaps in higher education

In the UK in 2020-2021, the gap between the percentage of white students and the percentage of black students receiving a first or 2:1 degree was 18.5%. The gap between white students and Asian students was 6.1% and the gap between white students and students from all other ethnicities was $9\%.^{45}$

Addressing these inequalities requires understanding their causes. According to EP, this requires evidence of correlation and evidence of mechanisms.

Large quantitative studies provide evidence of a correlation between ethnicity and degree outcomes, conditional on potential confounders including prior qualifications, social class, and other demographics.⁴⁶

Qualitative research has identified several underlying factors that might explain the correlation between ethnicity and degree outcomes, including previous educational experience, curriculum design and content, teaching, learning and assessment approaches, educational environment, and direct and indirect racism.⁴⁷

However, as Sabri has argued, these findings are not sufficiently discriminating. To enable effective change, more nuanced analysis is needed of the strength of different causes and their interaction in different contexts.⁴⁸ This requires explicitly formulating and assessing mechanism hypotheses.

A plausible mechanism hypothesis is that under-representation of ethnic minority staff limits diversity in expertise which limits diversity in curricula design. This, in turn, leads to a gap between curricula content and the interests of an increasingly diverse student population which affects student degree outcomes.⁴⁹



Both quantitative and qualitative studies can provide evidence of the extent of the contribution of this hypothesized mechanism. For example, quantitative studies could assess the relationship between staff diversity and student outcomes. Quantitative and qualitative studies could assess the stages of the mechanism. For example, analysis of survey results suggest that non-white staff are more likely to include diversity related content in their curricula.⁵⁰

⁴⁹ This is based on a mechanism hypothesis that Sabri (2023) identifies as embedded in the current discourse.

⁴⁵ Advance HE (2022).

⁴⁶ See, for example, Connor et al. (2004); Richardson (2015); HEFCE (2015).

⁴⁷ Brunce et al. (2021); Singh (2011).

⁴⁸ Sabri (2023). Sabri provides a full exploration of the benefits of applying Evidential Pluralism to understanding and addressing inequalities in degree outcomes.

⁵⁰ See, for example, Mayhew and Grunwald (2006).

Systematically assessing evidence of correlation from quantitative studies and evidence of mechanisms from quantitative and qualitative studies will enable greater understanding of the causes of inequality in degree outcomes. This, in turn, will enable the identification of potentially effective interventions that can in turn be evaluated by providing both evidence of correlation and evidence of mechanisms.

9. Further resources

Introductory material on Evidential Pluralism can be found at: <u>https://blogs.kent.ac.uk/jonw/ep/</u>

EP also provides an account of how to assess the external validity of an intervention. For more information, see Section 4 and Chapter 3 of:

Shan, Y. and Williamson, J. (2023). *Evidential Pluralism in the Social Sciences*. Routledge, Abingdon. Open-access at <u>https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/oa-mono/10.4324/9781003143000/</u>

10. Glossary

<u>Evidential Pluralism</u>. A theory of how to evaluate interventions and other causal relationships. According to this approach, it is important to assess mechanistic studies alongside experimental and observational studies of the covariation between the putative cause and effect. Evidential Pluralism provides general guidance as to exactly how to do this.

<u>Impact evaluation</u>. An evaluation of whether a particular intervention is effective in achieving certain goals. An impact evaluation may also try to estimate exactly how effective the intervention is.

<u>Mechanistic study</u>. This kind of study provides information about the ways in which a cause produces its effects. A mechanistic study of an intervention may shed light on the process by which the intervention works, or on other processes that can interact to change the results of the intervention. Mechanistic studies shed light on key features of mechanisms, such as mediating variables, entities or activities involved in the mechanism, or the structure or spatiotemporal organisation of the mechanism.

<u>Observational and experimental studies</u>. This kind of study tests whether a putative cause and effect are probabilistically dependent, conditional on a set of potential confounders. Typically, such a study will also attempt to estimate the extent of this dependence. Observational and experimental studies include studies such as RCTs as well as observational studies such as cohort studies. In the literature on Evidential Pluralism, these studies are often classified as 'association studies', because they are principally measuring the association between putative cause and effect, conditional on potential confounders.

<u>Process evaluation</u>. An evaluation of whether a particular intervention has been implemented as intended.

<u>RCT</u>. Randomised Controlled Trial. A trial that randomly allocates participants to the intervention. Those who are not given the intervention are usually given an alternative intervention, which will ideally be indistinguishable from the intervention but include none of the features of the intervention that are likely to cause the outcome of interest.

<u>Realist evaluation</u>. Realist evaluation looks at mechanisms of an intervention to ask for whom the intervention works and in which contexts it works. While Evidential Pluralism, in common with standard impact evaluation methods, asks whether there is an average effect across a whole population, realist evaluation can be thought of as focussing on variability in effect. For this reason, realist evaluation explores the fine-grained details of intervention mechanisms, while Evidential Pluralism looks for key features of a mechanism, and thus appeals to more coarse-grained mechanism hypotheses.

<u>Theory-based evaluation</u>. This approach to evaluation focuses on the importance of theories to evaluation. Interventions are often represented using 'theories of change' or 'logic models', in order to structure an evaluation. These representations are viewed as kinds of specific mechanism hypothesis by Evidential Pluralism. Evidential Pluralism has a different emphasis: it views theories as having no evidential value on their own—only when confirmed by evidence can a theory be relevant to an evaluation. Thus Evidential Pluralism focuses on evidence, rather than theory.

11. References

- Adjodah, D., Dinakar, K., Chinazzi, M., Fraiberger, S. P., Pentland, A., Bates, S., Staller, K., Vespignani, A., and Bhatt, D. L., (2021), 'Association Between Covid-19 Outcomes and Mask Mandates, Adherence and Attitudes, *PLOS ONE*, 16(6): e0252315
- Advance HE, (2022), 'Equality and Higher Education: Student Statistical Report', Available at: Equality in higher education: statistical reports 2022 | Advance HE (advance-he.ac.uk)
- Ali Hussen, D. (2023) 'Universal Basic Income of £1600 a month be trialled in two places in England', The Guardian. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/society/2023/jun/04/universal-basic-income-of-1600-pounds-a-month-to-be-trialled-in-england</u>
- Allington, D., Duffy, B., Wessely, S., Dhavan, N. and Rubin, J., (2021), 'Health-Protective Behaviour, Social Media Usage and Conspiracy Belief During the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency', *Psychological Medicine*, 51(10): 1763-1769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S003329172000224X</u>
- An, B. Y., Porcher, S., Tang, S-Y, and Kim, E. E., (2021), 'Policy Design for Covid-19: Worldwide Evidence on the Efficacies of Early Mask Mandates and Other Policy Interventions, *Public Administration Review*, 81(6): 1157-1182
- Anderson P., O'Donnell A., Kaner E. et al. (2021) Impact of minimum unit pricing on alcohol purchases in Scotland and Wales: Controlled interrupted time series analyses. *Lancet Public Health*, 6(8): e557–e565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(21)00052-9</u>
- Arechar, A. A., Allen, J., Berinsky, A. J., Cole, R., Epstein, Z., Garimella, K., Gully, A., Lu, J. G., Ross, R. M., Stagnaro, M. N., Zhang, Y., Pennycook, G. and Rand, D. G., (2023), 'Understanding and Combatting Misinformation Across Sixteen Countries on Six Continents', *Nature Human Behaviour*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01641-6</u>
- Bago, B., Rand, D. G. and Pennycook, G., (2020), 'Fake News, Fast and Slow: Deliberation Reduces Belief in False (but not true) News Headlines', *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 149(8): 1608-1613. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/xge0000729</u>
- Betsch, C., Korn, L., Sprengholz, P., Felgendreff, L., Eitze, S., Schmid, P., and Bohm, R., (2020), 'Social and Behavioural Consequences of Mask Policies During theCovid-19 Pandemic', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 117(36): 21851-21853.
- Brashier, N. M., Eliseev, E. D. and Marsh, E. J., (2020), 'An Initial Accuracy Focus Prevents Illusory Truth', Cognition, 194: 104054. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2019.104054</u>
- Brunce, L., King, N., Saran, S. and Talib, N., (2021), 'Experiences of Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) Students in Higher Education: Applying Self-Determination Theory to Understand the BME Attainment Gap', *Studies in Higher Education*, 46(3): 534-547.
- Connor, H., Tyers, C., Modood, T., and Hillage, J., (2004), Why the Difference? A Closer Look at Higher Education Minority Ethnic Students and Graduates (Research Report No. 552), London: Department for Education and Skills. Available at: <u>Microsoft Word - RR552.doc (bristol.ac.uk)</u>
- Drakeford, M. 'Wales Pilots Basic Income Scheme', Welsh Government Press Release. https://web.archive.org/web/20220628100231/https://www.gov.wales/wales-pilots-basic-incomescheme

- Eikenberry, S. E., Mancuso, M., Iboi, E., Phan, T., Eikenberry, K., Kuang, Y., Kostelich, E., and Gumel, A. B., (2020), 'To Mask or Not to Mask: Modelling the Potential for Face Mask Useby the General Public to Curtail the Covid-19 Pandemic', *Infectious Disease Modelling*, 5: 293-308.
- Epstein, Z., Berinsky, A., Cole, R., Gully, A., Pennycook, G. and Rand, D. G., (2021), 'Developing an Accuracy-Prompt Toolkit to Reduce Covid-19 Misinformation Online', *Harvard Kennedy School Misinformation Review*. https://doi.org/10.37016/mr-2020-71

Fazio, L. K., (2020), 'Pausing to Consider Why a Headline is True or False can Help Reduce the Sharing of False News', *Harvard Kennedy School Misinformation Review*. <u>https://doi.org/10.37016/mr-2020-009</u>

- Fitzpatrick, P (2022) 'Universal Basic Income: an idea whose time has come or just another mechanisms to grease the wheels of capitalism?' *Journal of Global Faultlines*, 9(2), pp. 225-234.: <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/48713465</u>
- Gibson, M; Hearty, W & Craig, P (2020) 'The public health effects of interventions similar to basic income: a scoping review' The Lancet Public Health, 5(3), pp. 165-176. https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(20)30005-0/fulltext
- Greene, C. M. and Murphy, G., (2021), 'Quantifying the Effects of Fake News on Behaviour: Evidence from a Study ofCovid-19 Misinformation', *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 27(4): 773-784. https://doi.org/10.1037/xap0000371
- Greenhalgh, T., Fisman, D., Cane, D. J., Oliver, M. and Macintyre, C. R., (2022), 'Adapt of Die: How the Pandemic Made the Shift from EBM to EBM+ More Urgent', BMJ Evidence-Based Medicine, 27: 253-260.
- Greenhalgh, T., Jimenez, J. L., Prather, K. A., Tufekci, Z., Fisman, D., and Schooley, R., (2021), 'Ten Scientific Reasons in Support of Airbourne Transmission of SARS-CoV-2', *The Lancet*, 397(10285): 1603-1605.
- Harrop, A & Tait, C (2017) 'Universal basic Income and the Future of Work', *Trade Union Congress* Report. <u>https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/UBI.pdf</u>
- Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE), (2015), 'Differences in Degree Outcomes: The Effect of Subject and Student Characteristics'. Available at: <u>Differences in degree outcomes:</u> <u>Key findings (ioe.ac.uk)</u>
- Hoynes, H & Rothstein, J (2019) 'Universal Basic Income in the US and advanced countries', NBER Working Paper Series, 25538. <u>https://gspp.berkeley.edu/assets/uploads/research/pdf/w25538.pdf</u>
- Holmes J, Buykx P, Perkins A et al. (2022) Evaluating the impact of minimum unit pricing in Scotland on people who are drinking at harmful levels. Public Health Scotland. www.publichealthscotland.scot/publications/evaluating-the-impact-of-minimum-unit-pricing-in-scotland-on-people-who-are-drinking-at-harmful-levels
- Howard, J., Huang, A., Li, Z., Tufekci, Z., Zdimal, V., van der Westhuizen, H-M., von Delft, A., Price, A., Fridman, L., Tang, L-H., Tang, V., Watson, G. L., Bax, C. E., Shaikh, R., Questier, F., Hernandez, D., Chu, L. F., Ramirez, C. M., and Rimoin, A. W., (2021), 'An Evidence Review of Face Masks Against Covid-19', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 118(4).
- Huang, J., Fisher, B. T., Tam, V., Wang, Z., Song, L., Shi, J., Rochelle, C. L., Wang, X., Morris, J. S., Coffin, S. E., and Rubin, D. M., (2022), 'The Effectiveness of Government Masking Mandates on Covid-19 County-Level case Incidence Across the United States', *Health Affairs*, 41(3): 445-453.

- IARC (2010) IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, No 96: Alcohol Consumption and Ethyl Carbamate. Lyon, FR: International Agency for Research on Cancer. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK326568
- IARC (2019) Preamble to the Monographs. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon. https://monographs.iarc.who.int/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Preamble-2019.pdf
- Jaimovich, N; Saporta-Eksten, I; Setty, O; & Yedid-Levi, Y (2022) 'Universal Basic Income: Inspecting the Mechanisms', IZA Institute of Labor Economics Discussion Paper (15058). https://docs.iza.org/dp15058.pdf
- Jefferson, T., Dooley, L., Ferroni, E., Al-Ansary, L. A., van Driel, M. L., Bawazeer, G. A., Jones, M. A., Hoffman, T. C., Clark, J., Beller, E. M., Glasziou, P. P., and Conly, J. M., (2023), 'Physical Interventions to Interrupt or Reduce the Spread of Respiratory Viruses', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 1(1): CD006207.
- Johnson, M; Johnson, E; Webber, L; Friebel, R; Reed, H; Lansley, S & Wildman, J (2021) 'Modelling the size, cost, and health impacts of universal basic income: what can be done in advance of a trial?' *Health* Services and Outcomes Research Methodology, 21, pp. 459-476. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10742-021-00246-8
- Johnson, E; Reed, H; Nettle, D; Stark, G; Chrisp, J; Howard, N; Gregory, G; Goodman, C; Smith, M; Coates, J; Robson, I; Parra-Mujica, F; Pickett, F. E & Johnson M (2023) 'Treating causes and not symptoms: basic income as a public health measure', *Basic Income Conversation Report*. https://autonomy.work/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Treating-causes-not-symptoms-Jul-23.pdf
- Leffler, C. T., Ing, E., Lykins, J. D., Hogan, M. C., McKeown, C. A., and Grzybowski, A., (2020), 'Association of Country-Wide Coronavirus Mortality with Demographics, Testing, Lockdowns and Public Wearing of Masks', *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 103(6): 2400-2411.
- Leung, N. H. L., Chu, D. K. W., Shiu, E. Y. C., Chan, K-H., McDevitt, J. J., Hau, B. J. P., Yen, H-L., Li, Y., Ip, D. K. M., Peiris, J. S. M., Seto, W-H., Leung, G. M., Milton, D. K., and Cowling, B. J., (2020), 'Respiratory Virus Shredding in Exhaled Breath and Efficacy of Face Masks, *Nature Medicine*, 26(5): 676-680.
- Lin, H., Pennycook, G. and Rand, D. G., (2023), 'Thinking More or Thinking Differently? Using Drift-Diffusion Modelling to Illuminate Why Accuracy Prompts Decrease Misinformation Sharing', *Cognition* 230(3): 105312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2022.105312</u>
- Lockyer, B., Islam, S., Rahman, A., Dickerson, J., Pickett, K., Sheldon, T., Wright, J., McEachan, R. and Sheard, L., (2021), 'Understanding Covid-19 Misinformation and Vaccine Hesitancy in Context: Findings from a Qualitative Study Involving Citizens in Bradford, UK', *Health Expectations* 24(4): 1158-1167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13240</u>
- Lowrey, A (2018), Give people money: How a Universal Basic Income would end poverty, revolutionize work, and remake the world. London, Penguin Books.
- MacIntyre, C. R., Nguyen, P-Y., Chughtai, A. A., Trent, M., Gerber, B., Steinhofel, K., and Seale, H., (2021), 'Mask Use, Risk-Mitigation Behaviours and Pandemic Fatigue During the Covid-19 Pandemic in Five Cities in Australia, the UK and USA: A Cross-Sectional Survey', International Journal of Infectious Diseases, 106: 199-207.
- Mayhew, M. and Grunwald, H. E., (2006), 'Factors Contributing to Faculty Incorporation of Diversity Related Course Content', The Journal of Higher Education, 77(1): 148-168.

- Parkkinen, V.-P., Wallmann, C., Wilde, M., Clarke, B., Illari, P., Kelly, M. P., Norell, C., Russo, F., Shaw, B., and Williamson, J. (2018). Evaluating evidence of mechanisms in medicine: principles and procedures. Springer, Cham, Switzerland. <u>https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-319-94610-8</u>
- Pennycook, G., Cannon, T. and Rand, D. G., (2018), 'Prior Exposure Increases Perceived Accuracy of Fake News', *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 147(12): 1865-1880. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000465
- Pennycook, G., Epstein, Z., Mosleh, M., Arechar, A. A., Eckles, D. and Rand, D. G., (2021), 'Shifting Attention to Accuracy can Reduce Misinformation Online', *Nature*, 592(7855): 590-595. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03344-2
- Pennycook, G., McPhetres, J., Zhang, Y., Lu, J. G. and Rand, D. G., (2020), 'Fighting Covid-19 Misinformation on Social Media: Experimental Evidence for a Scalable Accuracy-Nudge Intervention', *Psychological Science*, 31(7): 770-780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797620939054</u>
- Pennycook, G. and Rand, D. G., (2019), 'Lazy, Not Biased: Susceptibility to Partisan Fake News is Better Explained by Lack of Reasoning than by Motivated Reasoning', *Cognition*, 188: 39-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2018.06.011
- Pennycook, G. and Rand, D. G., (2021), 'The Psychology of Fake News', *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 25(5): 388-402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2021.02.007</u>
- Pennycook, G. and Rand, D. G., (2022), 'Accuracy Prompts are a Replicable and Generalizable Approach for Reducing the Spread of Misinformation', *Nature Communications*, 13(1): 2333. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-30073-5
- PHS. (2023). Evaluating the Impact of Minimum Unit Pricing for Alcohol in Scotland: Final Report. Public Health Scotland. <u>https://publichealthscotland.scot/media/20366/evaluating-the-impact-of-</u> <u>minimum-unit-pricing-for-alcohol-in-scotland-final-report.pdf</u>
- Pierri, F., Perry, B. L., DeVerna, M. R., Yang, K-C, Flammini, A., Menczer, F. and Bryden J., (2022), 'Online Misinformation is Linked to Early Covid-19 Vaccine Hesitancy and Refusal', *Scientific Reports*, 12(5966). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-022-10070-w
- Redmond, P; McGuinness, S & Ciprikis, K (2022) 'A Universal Basic income for Ireland: lessons from the international literature', *Economic* & *Social Research Institute Report*. <u>https://www.esri.ie/system/files/publications/RS146_0.pdf</u>
- Reed, H; Johnson, M; Lansley, S; Johnson, E; Stark, G & Pickett, K (2023) 'Universal Basic Income is affordable and feasible: evidence from UK economic microsimulation modelling' *Journal of Poverty* and Social Justice, 31(1), pp. 146-162. ISSN:1759-8273. https://bristoluniversitypressdigital.com/view/journals/jpsj/31/1/article-p146.xml

Richardson, J. T. E., (2015), 'The Under-Attainment of Ethnic Minority Students in UK Higher Education: What we Know and What we Don't Know', *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 39(2): 278-291.

Roozenbeek, J., Schneider, C. R., Dryhurst, S., Kerr, J., Freeman, A. L. J., Recchia, G., van der Bles, A. M. and van der Linden, S., (2020), 'Susceptibility to Misinformation about Covid-19 Around the World' Royal Society Open Science, 7: 201199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.201199</u>

Ruckert, A; Huynh, C & Labonte, R (2017) 'Reducing Health Inequities: is universal basic income the way forward?', *Journal of Public Health*, 40(1), pp. 3-7. <u>https://academic.oup.com/jpubhealth/article/40/1/3/2966187</u>

- Sabri, D., (2023), 'Rethinking Causality and Equality in Students' Degree Outcomes', British Journal of Sociology of Education, 44(3): 520-538.
- Shan, Y. and Williamson, J. (2023). Evidential Pluralism in the Social Sciences. Routledge, Abingdon. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/oa-mono/10.4324/9781003143000/
- Singh, G., (2011), Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) Students' Participation in Higher Education: Improving Retention and Success: A Synthesis of Research Evidence, York: Higher Education Academy.
- Sloman, P (2018) 'Universal Basic Income in British Politics, 1918–2018: From a 'Vagabond's Wage' to a Global Debate', *Journal of Social Policy*, 47(3), pp. 625–642. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0047279417000800
- Srnicek, N & Williams, A (2015), Inventing the Future: Postcapitalism and a world without work. New York, Verso Books. https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/16935/1/SRNICEK%20and%20Williams%20(2015)%20'Inventing%20t he%20Future'.pdf
- Van Doremalen, N., Bushmaker, T., Morris, D. H., Holbrook, M. G., Gamble, A., Williamson, B. N., Tamin, A., Harcourt, J. L., Thornburg, N. J., Gerber, S. I., Lloyd-Smith, J. O., de Wit, E., and Munster, V. J., (2020), 'Aerosol and Surface Stability of SARS-CoV-2 as Compared with SARS-CoV-1', New England Journal of Medicine, 382(16): 1564-1567.
- Wyper G, Mackay D, Fraser C et al. (2023) Evaluating the impact of alcohol minimum unit pricing on deaths and hospitalisations in Scotland: A controlled interrupted time series study. The Lancet, 401(10385): 1361-1370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00497-X</u>